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Preface 

  

History tells us about huge migrations both in ancient times, in the middle ages and in recent 

times.  When this country, America, was discovered, there became a migration bigger than to 

any other country in the world.  From Norwegian coast towns some emigrated to America 

already in the 17
th

 century, but the serious emigration from west coast Norway started 1825, 

when the little Sloop from Stavanger sailed across the sea with a group of emigrants.   Still 

some years passed before the emigration from the eastern inland area started. 

When we think of the first emigrants from Norway, we believe it must have been with heavy 

hearts they took the decision to leave their fatherland, family and friends to settle somewhere 

beyond the big ocean.   What courage they had when they trusted the small sailing ships over 

the big stormy sea.   Add the fact that in the beginning the first pioneers had to live under 

rather poor conditions.  They had to scrimp and scrape in all fashions eventually to make 

things better for their children.   These pioneers we should not forget, but instead honour by 

writing down their sagas. 

These pioneers cleared land and built thousands of homes here in the New World.  They 

founded churches and Christian schools so that the younger generations and we who came 

here later are very grateful.    All we can do is to make their history known. 

In the following pages you will find the history of these great pioneers. 

The author 
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How this story came into being. 

 

Coming home from my visit to Norway in the fall 1914 I found a letter from professor A.A. 

Veblen with a request to write something from these great Norwegian towns around Spring 

Grove for the newspaper “Samband”.    I replied that I didn‟t feel  skilful enough to do it and 

recommended him someone else to ask.  But after some correspondence with this prominent 

countryman A.A. Veblen,  I started to write.  Most part  of it was printed in “Samband”.   

Many urged me to publish the text in a book.   But we owe it to A.A. Veblen that it came into 

existence. 

  

O.S. Johnson  
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Introduction 

In the south-east corner of the state of Minnesota there is an area almost exclusively populated 

by Norwegians.  These Norwegian towns stretch out 30 miles long and 20 miles wide and 

count 20,000 Norwegians.  You may say that this is a little Norwegian county in America.   

The Spring Grove town has approximately 1,000 inhabitants and all but a few are 

Norwegians.  Despite the fact that this is only a village with a few stores, two hotels and two 

banks, its name is well-known all over the north-west, i.e. in North- and South Dakota, in 

Montana, in Washington state and in the western provinces of Canada.  Spring Grove was the 

first home for many Norwegians who later moved towards the great plains in the north-west. 

 

Many people who now live in states further west was born and raised here in Spring Grove 

and surroundings.  This became evident during the big homecoming celebrations that took 

place here some 13 years ago.   Big crowds came to revisit their childhood homes, see their 

parents, refresh their memory about their youth years that few of us forget.   We remember the 

great speech held by reverend Seehus and how he described the childhood homes that was left 

behind.  He told about how those who moved away had found fortune and wealth in the 

West.  They returned as big landowners.   But while they had contributed to the culture 

development in the West, they who stayed had worked hard, too.   Churches and schools had 

been built, they had comfortable houses, fields and pastures, so the country had been changed 

into flourishing districts with the beautiful village of Spring Grove in the middle.  He 

resembled they who had moved out to Sigurd Jorsalfar, who went abroad, visited the Holy 

Land and other countries and collected big fortunes and became famous; while his two 

brothers, King Øistein and Olav, was at home and built the country. 
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The first Norwegian settlers. 

According to reliable sources Mr. Torger Johanneson Tendeland was the first Norwegian to 

find himself a home in these parts.  He came from Stavanger,  emigrated 1849, and stayed in 

Wisconsin till spring 1852.  Then he travelled to Iowa with oxen and a prairie schooner in 

which he had all his belongings.  He left his prairie schooner,  went by foot and in the end of 

May 1852 he reached  the very spot that later became his home. An American guy had been 

there before him and marked a few trees, so Torger didn‟t dare to take the land at first.  He 

roamed around and came back to the prairie schooner with his family.   After having made 

sure that the land he wanted for his home was not possessed by someone else he moved there 

in June and then there were several Norwegian settlers that had taken land just north and west 

of Torgers land.  They were Haagen Narveson, Fingal Flaten, Knud Knudson Kiland and 

Truls Haga, all from Sigdal.  Soon afterwards came Peter Lommen, Knud Berge and Even 

Høime.  All these three were born in Valdres.  And from Hallingdal came Ole and Tolleif 

Berg and Knud Vold. 

Torger Johanneson Tendeland died in 1873 and his son, L.T. Johnson now owns the farm.  

L.T. Johnson was only three years old when his parents started their harsh lives here as 

pioneers.   As soon as the boy was old enough to make himself useful he had to take part in all 

kinds of work, summer and winter.  To go to school and be a pupil was not in the question 

then.  Johnson tell that he was taught some Norwegian and religion by his father, who taught 

him to read. With this basic knowledge he taught himself to write and read the Norwegian 

language as well as anybody who had the opportunity to study it at school.   The English 

language, too, he learned most part by himself.  He became so good in English that he became  

Town Clerk, and had several positions of trust and help build the town and schoolhouse and 

town hall.   He also contributed both with time and money to the congregation.  In short, this 

son of the first pioneer in Spring Grove Township is a real man of honour,  respected by all. 

Peter Johnson Lommen who was among the first settlers was born in Valdres 24
th

 September 

1822.   About 15 years old he travelled to Kristiania to learn the trade of a shoemaker, but 

because of poor health he had to go back home again.  He stayed at home until 1851 when he 

emigrated to America.  After about one year in Wisconsin he came to Spring Grove and took 

land west of the town, where he stayed until his death. 
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Peter Lommen was married twice and became father of 11 children.  His son John P. Lommen 

was the first boy child to be born from Norwegian parents in Minnesota.  A younger son, C. 

P. Lommen, is a teacher at University of South Dakota in the town of Vermillion and is 

considered to be the most learned man among the Norwegians here in America.  First he 

studied at the Colleges in this country, then he went to Germany where he studied at the 

University of Berlin, that is considered one of the best educational institutions in the world. 

Fingal Aslesen Flaten was born in Sigdal 1824 and emigrated to America in 1850.  Knud 

Knudson Kiland, born 1827 in Sigdal, emigrated to America in 1848.  He stayed in Wisconsin 

until he travelled together with H. Narveson and Fingal Flaten and took land next to them. 

Tollef Amundsen Berg was born on the 10
th

 June 1828 in Nes in Hallingdal.  He emigrated to 

America 1848 and as mentioned earlier he arrived at Spring Grove 1852.  His daughter Mari 

was the first girl child to be born here by Norwegian parents.   She was born 29
th

 October 

1852, but lived for only one month and was buried on his farm. 

His son Thore, who now has a big store in La Crosse, Wisconsin was born May 14, 1854.  

After graduating from business schools in La Crosse and Janesville, Wisconsin he spent one 

summer at home working on the farm.  Later he started selling sewing machines and in 1880 

opened his own hardware store in Spring Grove, but sold it three years later to O. B. Nilson 

and O. B. Tone.  He next went into selling farm equipment and worked at it till he became the 

biggest businessman in the southern part of Minnesota.  This business he sold to Gustav 

Glasrud from Wilmington and has now a prosperous business in La Crosse, Wisconsin, 

dealing in automobiles and all kinds of musical instruments. 

Knud Olson Vold was born in Flaa, Hallingdal, December 22nd, 1830 and came to America 

in 1850.  He stayed with a brother in Wisconsin a couple of years and in 1852 he arrived in 

Spring Grove and took land right next to where the town now is.  This land, however, was 

taken away from him and he decided to go to Winona County.  There he took land, built a log 

cabin and improved his farm, just to have it taken away from him again.  He never again tried 

to get claim to federal land.  Returning to Spring Grove, he bought a farm in the western part 

of the township. 

Ole Olson Ulen also came here in 1852 and took land in the southern part of the township.  

After living here twelve years he moved on to Iowa. 
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In 1853 several emigrants came to make their homes here.  They were:  Engebret Hanson 

Melbraaten, Knud Gulbransen, Ole E. Stenerodden, Levor Timanson Quarve, Jørgen T. 

Quarve, Ole E. Sagadalen and Engebret Knutsen Opheim, all from Hallingdal.  From 

Soknedalen, Ringerike came the brothers Knud and Nils Blixrud, and from Røraas in 

Østerdalen came Dr. Thore Jensen with his parents.  Dr. Jensen was then thirteen years old. 

Ole E. Stenerodden was born in Flaa, Hallingdal, April 22, 1824.  His name means a point of 

land full of rocks, and that is exactly what their farm was like.  Their land stuck partly out into 

Lake Krøderen and was mostly stones and rocks, but still not unlike most of the smaller farms 

around that valley.  His father Christen was considered the best blacksmith around, and 

especially for his art like skill of making locks.  Ole learned this trade of locksmith from his 

father.  The prospects for a worker in Norway at that time, however, were very bleak, even if 

he was clever in his field, so when the rumours about America reached the mountain valleys 

of Norway, Ole too decided to emigrate in 1851.  Before he left Norway he wanted to find a 

partner, someone who could help him and make a home for him.  He found the right person in 

Beret Eriksen, whom he married before leaving Norway and who was his help and companion 

through the rest of his life.  After two years in Wisconsin  he came to Spring  Grove and took 

land a mile east of town.  Besides being a farmer, he also continued as blacksmith for years 

and years, and dollar added to dollar so that in the 1870‟s he was the richest man in Spring 

Grove.  He had eight children, four are living.  The eldest son and a daughter live in North 

Dakota.  His son Erik lives in the town of Wilmington, where he owns a big farm and has held 

many trusted positions.  For years he has been Town Clerk, secretary for an insurance 

company founded by farmers, and he held other positions where he showed his loyalty and 

ability. 

Levor Timansen Quarve, son of Timan Olsen Eidahl and Kjersti Jørgensen Garnaas, was born 

in Naes parish, Hallingdal, December 27, 1830.  In 1848 his parents and the whole family 

emigrated to American and landed in New York after a stormy and difficult crossing.  His 

father died after arriving in New York and was buried there.  In spite of the hardship and 

sadness that struck this family, the loss of a husband and father, they continued their travel 

westward and came to Rock County, Wisconsin a month later.  Levor stayed there about three 

years before coming to Spring Grove and buying land two miles west of the village.  In 1856 

he married Kristi Knudsdatter Berg.  They had eleven children and several of them are now 

dead.  One of his sons, Timan L. Quarve, has a big store in Fessenden, North Dakota and is 
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considered a very honourable man.  He is also very found of our native country Norway and 

has taken time and money to collect for the Gift to Hallingdal.  He is an eager defender of 

everything real Norwegian, even down to herring and cod.  For the first time in 1914 he 

visited his parent‟s birthplace and other parts of his native land. 

Levor Timanson Quarve has been an industrious man, hard working and thrifty.  He was 

trained for the hardship of pioneering already in childhood.  At seven years of age he was 

responsible for the cattle in the field and had to be out in all kinds of weather and temperature, 

often soaked to the skin.  This eagerness to work and do a good job that he learned in 

boyhood served him well later in life.  At one time he owned 840 acres of land and was 

thereby a rather well to do man.  Although he worked hard for his money and handled it with 

care, he was not stingy.  To the contrary, he was an initiator and donated richly to churches, 

schools, hospital and other institutions. 

Levor Quarve has suffered a lot on his road through life, setbacks and personal sorrow, but he 

took it all quietly and left his life in God‟s hands.  Still this 88 year old man is happy and 

pleased, although he is blind now.  His mother died in 1881 – 91 years old, and was not only a 

grandmother, but great-grandmother as well. 

His brother, Jørgen T. Quarve was born November 14, 1826 and was four years older than 

Levor.  They came here to Spring Grove at the same time and took land right next to one 

another.  Jørgen Quarve built a real big farm house.  It was the biggest in this area for a long 

time and used for church services and other community get-togethers.  Jørgen Quarve was a 

leader and in this new settlement he took part politically as well as in church work and was 

entrusted with community positions.  He represented this district one term in the Legislature.  

Of his fourteen children, several are now dead.  Jørgen died January 17, 1878. 

Anders Pedersen Kroshus, one of the first settlers here, was born in Hadeland, Norway, 

February 12, 1822.  When Anders was eight years old, his mother died and since his father 

was very poor, Anders at this tender age had to go and live with strangers and earn his living.  

At the age of twenty-eight, he saved enough money to pay his fare to America.  The 25
th

 of 

June in 1859, he left Norway and came straight to Milwaukee, Wisconsin where he landed a 

job for an American named Amos Putman.  He owned a sawmill and was also a farmer, so 

Anders was hired to work in the sawmill.  Unluckily one day Anders was touched by the saw 

blade and lost three fingers on his right hand.  In 1853 he came to Spring Grove Township 
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where he claimed Federal land and working hard, found himself the owner of 313 acres.  He 

married Thuri Haageness from Telemark,  Norway in 1854.  She was born June 18, 1834 and 

was a member of the very first Norwegian family who came to Wisconsin. 

Engebret Hanson Melbraataen was born in upper Flaa, Hallingdal, Norway October 29, 1834.  

In 1852 he arrived in Rock County, Wisconsin with his parents, and a year later he came to 

Spring Grove.  Engebret Melbraaten took active part in the community and became the 

Township Supervisor and Treasurer.  He also held other public jobs because he was trusted 

and well liked. 

Timan Gulbrandson was born in Hallingdal, Norway March 15, 1837 and came to America at  

ten years of age.  In 1854 he came to Spring Grove and took land close to town.  Being a very 

hard working and industrious man, he was after just a few years the owner of hundreds of 

acres of land.  He went on to buy land in North Dakota and Washington and became a very 

rich man.  For several years the only hotel in the Spring Grove area was a big brick house he 

built. In 1871 he represented this district in the Legislature. 

Gulbrand Nilsen Myhra is another name among the first settlers here.  He was born March 27, 

1826 in Hadeland and after finishing recruiting school in Norway he worked as blacksmith, 

carpenter and farmer.  He married Martha Østensen in 1854.  On April 20
th

 the same year, the 

young couple decided to go to America and make their home in the New World. 

The crossing was very difficult with storms and tremendous waves and it took them eleven 

weeks.  July 23
rd

 they arrived in Paint Creek Prairie, Iowa where they stayed into August and 

then came to Spring Grove.  Here he bought land east of town and close to where the town 

boundaries are now.  This was to be the place for the newly married couple‟s home.  It took a 

lot of energy to clear the land, build a house and still try to earn money by working for 

someone else to make a living.  But Gulbrand Myhra was not one to shy away from hard work 

or complain about meagre pay and bad weather.  He went to work with enthusiasm and real 

pioneer spirit.  In the winter of 1856 he chopped and split 10,000 rails at a price of a dollar per 

100 and own board.  Before Christmas he had done only 500.  Who would have the courage 

and stamina to repeat that today? 
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Gulbrand Myhra built all the buildings on his farm himself, did his own blacksmith work 

whenever needed, and he built the first schoolhouse in Spring Grove.  All this and an 

excellent farmer too. 

His brother, Hans Nilsen Myhra, came into this world in 1824 on September 12
th

 and was 

among the first to arrive.  He was active in the community and took a special interest in the 

church, so much so, that he personally footed the bill and built the first church in Spring 

Grove.  Later on when this new congregation had found their economic bearing, they paid 

him for the church. 

Dr. Thore Jensen Elemoen was born in Tolgen parish, Østerdalen in March of 1840.  In 1853 

he emigrated with his parents and they came directly to Spring Grove, where his father took 

land west of town.  Thore stayed home and helped his parents on the farm till he in 1872 went 

to Cincinnati and studied medicine for two years at a medical college.  He returned to Spring 

Grove where he for many years practiced as a doctor.  Thore Jensen has always, both in his 

profession as a doctor and as a person in private life, been a man of strong convictions and 

conscience, striving to do the right thing.  He was deeply interested in the church and seldom 

missed a church service. 

Ole Kolberg from Solør came here at the same time as Dr. Jensen.  He settled in the Spring 

Grove area, but died in an accident.  He froze to death during a terrible cold spell on the road 

between Caledonia and Spring Grove.  His widow married Kristoffer Vaaler, father to Olaus 

Vaaler, who is postmaster in Spring Grove. 

In 1854 the following came to Spring Grove:  Elling Kieland, Ole Lee, Engebret Knutsen 

Opheim, Gunder Traaen, Bjørn Kolsrud, Engebret Bensen Enderud, Ole Olsen 

Gulbrandsongutten, Gulbrand Ruud and Paul Rosendahl. 

Elling Kieland was from Sigdal and left for this county in 1848 where he lived in Wisconsnin 

till he came to Spring Grove.  He settled in the north eastern part of town.  Elling Kieland was 

one of those warm and amusing men who mix easily with others.  He was always happy and 

alive and could tell all kinds of stories about things that had happened to him.  Politically he 

was a Democrat and after the Civil War, that was bad in itself in this Republican district, 

especially at election time.  Elling Kieland however, took it calmly in stride, gave pretty 

funny answers to questions and kept on living with his strong belief in democracy.  Haagen, 
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the eldest of his children was three years old when they came to America.  After his 

confirmation he went a year to business school in La Crosse, Wisconsin and landed a job as 

business clerk with Aslesen and Larsen in Brownsville, Minnesota and remained there for 

nine years.  He went into partnership with Nils Olsen Onsgaard and they had a country store 

in Spring Grove for many years.  A younger son, Knud, now lives on his father‟s farm.  Elling 

Kieland‟s daughter, Inger died young, but was an example in womanly charm and grace, quiet 

and unpretending, and also judging from visible signs, lived a deeply religious life. 

Ole Lee was another of those courageous and sturdy fellows who left their native land in the 

spring of 1846 and came to Rock County, Wisconsin in September of that year.  He stayed till 

1854 when he came to Spring Grove and bought eighty acres of land in the northern part of 

the Township.  Later he owned as much as 240 acres of land and became a trusted and active 

man within the community. 

Engebret Knudsen Opheim came here in 1854 and is still remembered as a very respected and 

intellectual man.  He helped organize the Township and was the first Town Treasurer and 

took active part in the development of the settlement, with the church affairs as well as the 

cultural aspects. 

Gunder Traaen was born in Numedal in 1831 and went to America in 1853.  A year later he 

came to Spring Grove.  He took land in the north western part of the Township and made 

himself a lovely home.  He is still living, but is quite deaf and has lost his mental faculties. 

Bjørn Kolsrud was also one of the old timers who came here the same year and made his 

home south of Spring Grove.  He came from Kolsrud in Hallingdal, and his son Thor lives on 

the farm now. 

Engebret Bensen Enderud was one of the first to emigrate to America from Eggedal.  He 

came to Spring Grove in 1854 and bought land south of town.  Engebret was a good fiddler 

and used to play at weddings and dances.  Many a couple danced to the music Engebret 

Enderud made on his eight-string fiddle.  Especially did he like to play a waltz named the 

Endered Waltz.  His son Adolf is now living on the farm. 

Another farmer from the same valley in Norway was the well-known giant Ole Olsen 

Gulbrandsgutten, who answered to the name of “Big Ole.”  He came to Spring Grove just a 
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few weeks before Engebret Enderud, and took out a claim on the land Enderud later became 

owner of since Enderud bought Big Ole‟s right when Big Ole moved to Iowa. 

Lars Reiersen Halstenrud left Eggedal, Norway in 1842 and lived in Wisconsin till 1854, 

when he moved to Spring Grove where he lived out his life. 

One man everyone remembers because he was especially handy and helpful was Paul Hansen 

Rosendahl.  He was born October 10, 1838 in Hadeland and went to America in 1852 with his 

parents.  After a two-year stay in Wisconsin, the family moved to Spring Grove and bought 

land south west of town.  The sixteen-year old boy then learned the hard work of the 

pioneers.  He had to help with all heavy work and on a sparing diet.  In 1862 he joined the 

Army and was on duty to watch for Indians from September 27, 1862 to October 20, 1863.  

He came home for a year on the farm, then joined the Army again February 15, 1865 to fight 

the rebels in the Civil War.  He stayed in till the war was over.  In 1873 he became the 

representative in the Legislature from this district and served two terms.  In 1875 he was 

named Registar of Deeds in this county to fill a vacancy till the next election.  At that election 

in 1878 he won the post and served the people well.  He became ill and died August 30, 1880. 

In 1869 he had married Gunhild Olsdatter Brubraaten from Ådalen, Norway.  She bore him 

six children, five are still living, three boys and two girls.  One of the girls is married to a 

pastor, the other to a farm boy.  Two of the boys are farmers and the third is a professor in 

Botany at the University of Minnesota. 

Paul Rosendahl is mentioned as a very learned man always with a noble mind.  He was ever 

ready to help his fellowmen, be it advise or guidance. 
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A gold-miners story. 

Anders B. Foss was born 24
th

 April 1826 on a small farm 20 kms north of Bergen.   There the 

boy grew up and like every small farmer‟s son or fisherman‟s son in those days, he was 

toughened since childhood through both hard and exhausting work. 

When he was 20 years old he went to Bergen to apply for work and got an employment at a 

rich merchant with unloading and loading ships and boats that brought goods in and out of  

the business.  Anders arrived in the fall and stayed all winter long, where he worked every day 

without knowing what to be paid for the month or per day, as he trusted the merchant 

completely to pay him a suitable salary for the winter‟s work.   When the spring came and the 

boy was about to move away, the merchant gave him 2 ½ specidaler, about $2.70.  This joke 

played by the rich merchant, who took advantage of the boy‟s naivety, made him almost 

resentful towards the Norwegian employers, so he decided to emigrate to America as soon as 

he had earned enough money for the ticket.   By diligence and severe economy he was able to 

save enough money for the journey and in spring 1849 he left Norway and arrived at New 

York on the 4
th

 of July.   From there he used the means of transport that existed then and went 

to one of his friends from younger days, Mr. Mons Foss, who had emigrated two years earlier 

and was staying temporarily in Wisconsin.  

As known to everybody gold was discovered in California in 1848 by one Mr. John A Sutter 

and news to this effect was spreading like wildfire all over the country and made many men 

hit the road for California.  Everybody wanted to get rich in a hurry.  Anders Foss, his friend 

Mons Foss and 5 Americans decided to go to California together.  With 5 pair of oxen and 

just as many prairie schooners they started the journey westwards from Wisconsin on the 1
st
 

of April 1851.  They crossed the river Mississippi, and went through the state of Iowa to 

Council Bluffs, where they laid up stores of provisions for part of the journey.  From there 

they continued through Nebraska, Colorado, Utah to Salt Lake City, the land and city of the 

Mormons, where they laid up some more stores of provisions.   Nebraska and Colorado were 

wasteland and unpopulated.  No houses or other dwellings of white men could be seen.  Only 

desolate deserts, with no other roads than the ones made by Indians and buffaloes. 

As previously mentioned, they were a company of 7 men from Wisconsin.  As they entered 

Nebraska, however, other gold miners joined in, so they made a long caravan of oxen and 
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prairie schooners that moved across the desolate plains in steer pace.  A day‟s journey was 

about 16 to 20 (English) miles.   When they camped for the night,  all prairie schooners were 

driven together in a circle to keep the men and oxen inside, while several guards where placed 

outside the circle.  Crowds of Indians wandered around, ready to murder and rob the 

travelling men. 

Not only Indians caused trouble.  Another obstacle were huge sandstorms that raged.  They 

who couldn‟t cover their faces were lashed as if it was done by a whip.   Then the oxen could 

start to run in a full gallop and get away from prairie schooners and tools.   Big rain storms 

happened too, so the travellers became all wet - as fishes.  They had to continue in this 

fashion until the clothes dried in the sun or from the heat of the body.    But the worst had still 

to come.  Just a few were killed by Indians or perished in the heavy storms.   The most cruel 

thing were the mass murders carried out by the Mormons.  The Mormons sometimes allied 

themselves with the Indians and carried out terrible blood baths.   There was told that in 1857 

120 people were killed in the most cruel way by these unions of Mormons and Indians.  

Fifteen years after this killing of emigrants the leader of these murderers, bishop John D. Lee, 

and the Mormon prophet Brigham Young had a disagreement and Brigham Young excluded 

Lee from the Mormon church and declared him an outlaw.  This led to Mr. Lee‟s arrest, he 

was questioned and he was sentenced to death by a firing squad.   On the scaffold he 

confessed his terrible crimes and told that after his death the world should know about the 

terrible misdeeds done by the Mormon priests. 

Anders Foss and company came rather unharmed through the Salt Lake city in the State of the 

Mormons.   They bought provisions from the Mormons and continued towards the mountains.  

Here they had to wade through deep snowdrifts,  get across foamy rivers and streams and get 

through the sad and desolate deserts of Nevada.  After a journey that took 4 months and 10 

days they finally arrived at the gold miners‟ town of Hangtown, California.  The town was 

named after all the hangings that had taken place there.  There were no police or public 

authorities.  The justice of the fist, the law of the jungle was the judicial power.   This 

authority didn‟t drag on by log questioning, witnesses and jury.  No.  If anybody was guilty in 

theft or cheated in cards, the case was settled quickly.  He was hanged until death, a ditch was 

dug and his body was thrown into it as if an animal was buried.  

During the first years of gold mining a worker was paid 15 dollars a day plus food.  But when 

Anders and company arrived,  the salary was as low as 4 dollars a day plus food.   
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Anders worked only for others while he was in California.  He didn‟t at all like this life 

among these half-wild men.  As soon as he had earned enough for his travel money he wanted 

to get away.  After one and a half years among these loose men, where fights, murders and 

theft happened almost every day and where no man could be safe for his life, he decided to 

leave California and travelled by steamer on the Pacific Ocean to Nicaragua and from there he 

managed to get to the Atlantic Ocean.  Then he travelled by steamer to New Orleans and up 

the Mississippi river to McGregor, Iowa. 

After his arrival in Iowa he bought land close to Big Canoe, that he sold and moved to 

Minnesota and there he bought a big farm west of Spring Grove.  Now he and wife live in the 

town and enjoy quietness  and calmness in their comfortable home. 

In connection with the story of this gold miner, it might be suitable to give a few remarks 

concerning  California, because it was there the famous Henry George invented the Singletax 

system.  His book “Progress and Poverty” created such a stir that it was published in several 

languages both in Europe and America. 

In 1847 the USA had conquered California from Mexico and had the conquest confirmed at a 

peace settlement in the beginning of 1848.   At that time California was a desolate and wild 

land and had poor connections between the few that lived there and to the rest of the world.  A 

few settlers ran farms and some were fishing at the coast.  The biggest town, San Francisco, 

had only around 800 inhabitants. 

In January 1848, however, the discovery was made, that immediately populated the towns. At 

one of the tributaries of Sacramenti a sawmill was established.     When leading water to the 

sawmill, gold dust was found in the river bed.  In the beginning this discovery was kept as a 

secret.  But after a few months everybody knew about it and the Californian  gold fever was 

spread all over the civilized world.  People came by thousands from everywhere.   In one of 

the gold districts around Sacramento there had been only 2000 inhabitants, but one year later 

there were 40,000.  Already in 1848 there were produced gold for more than 10 million 

dollars and in 1849 for almost 40 million dollars.  The city of San Francisco developed with a 

furious speed, so its population reached 35,000 in 1852 and was still rising. 

The consequence of this amount of people coming was that the price of  commodities rose to 

incredible heights.  The supply of goods was never sufficient to meet the demand and the big 
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emigration never met the big demand for labour.   The prospect for earning a fortune in a 

hurry, pulled workers away from the cities.  As soon as rumours of new discoveries became 

known, workers came to the mine fields by the hundreds.  Sailors left their ships at the 

harbours.  Bricklayers, carpenters and timbermen left buildings half ready and went to dig 

gold.  All prices and salaries rose to incredible heights.  In the end of 1848 a small bread cost 

30 cents and a pound of potatoes  cost 40 cents, i.e. 24 dollars a bushel.  To have a shirt 

washed cost one dollar and the salary was up to 15 dollars a day. 

Because of this fantastic, promising possibility to strike it rich in a hurry by digging gold, 

nobody wanted to take land and settle as farmers.  Big districts of land of the finest and best 

suitable for fruit growing or farming was lying there unoccupied and with little monetary 

value.   When San Francisco and other municipal authorities  needed some money to build 

new offices, schools, hospitals, prisons etc. they had to sell land for a low price to speculators 

in order to meat their expenditures.  A doctor that promised to help poor sick people, 

demanded as compensation a big piece of municipal land that he few years later sold with a 

profit of several million dollars.   

Most part of the valuable Californian land was handed over to speculators for small change, 

and they hired out small strips of land at high prices.  A leaseholder paid one forth of his 

dividends to the landowner. 

In 1858 Henry George came to California, where he except for a few journeys stayed until 

1880.  During his stay in California as a worker in several newspapers he had rich opportunity 

to think about this sale of land and came to the result that these private landowners were pure 

thieves, who did nothing but cashing in money by robbing the land that only few years ago 

was common property, where everybody had free access.   If the state and county in time had   

reserved   the proprietary rights and only hired out to private persons the right to use the land, 

the enormous fortunes that now poured into the private landowners‟ pockets had belonged to 

the society.   Tax on property or on income hadn‟t been necessary.  The society then would 

have had money piled up just for lending out land. 

On the other hand, now the proprietary rights were lost.   But in Henry George‟s mind grew 

the thought that the land could be taken back and no expropriation was necessary.  It could be 

done by just a change the tax system, i.e.  through the Singletax System.   All that was 

necessary was to cut out all other taxes and put the whole burden of taxes on the land alone so 
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that the entire economic rent was confiscated by the authorities.      If a tax of, say 1,000 

dollars  was put on a farm and a the lease for the farm was 1,000 dollars, the property right for 

the land would soon be put to an end, as the owner would earn no profit by it.    Likewise it 

could be used for building ground in the cities and for uncultivated land.  The tax should not 

be based on what income the land really gave, but from what it could give when carefully 

cultivated and used.  The land should be taxed whether the land was built or not. 

This was – from what I learn – Henry George‟s theory about the Singletax system, that was 

rather popular few years back so he had lots of followers.  Now this theory seems to have died 

out and rejected by all economists as useless.  Yes, even the socialists didn‟t like this tax 

system. 

After that side-leap to California, I better again let my thoughts dwell on those first settlers 

who built and settled around  Spring Grove. 

Mikkel Larsen Dal, who later took the name Walhus, was born December 27, 1830 in Gran 

parish, Hadeland, Norway.  Without a father from the age of six, he was brought up by his 

mother.  In 1851 he went to America and stayed three years in Wisconsin.  After that he came 

to Spring Grove and bought land by the border between Minnesota and Iowa in Winneshiek 

County, Iowa.  He son, John Walhus, married the daughter of the late Nils Hendricksen and 

lives now in Spring Grove where they have a country store.   

John Lommen, brother of Peter Lommen, came the same year.  John Lommen was the quiet 

kind among the pioneers in the new settlement.  He held no official posts and stayed very 

much in the background, but just the same, in his quiet way, he contributed his share to the 

clearing of land and building of church and school.  Both he and his wife were hospitable 

people, just like his two brothers, and it was a pleasure to go and visit with him. 

In 1855 Even Haugen came with his wife, Goro, Ole Stensrud and his brother Anders, all 

from Krødsherrad, and Helge Bergsrud from Soknedalen, Ringerike.  Knud Sagedalen from 

Flaa, Hallingdal, Nils Tveto from Hadeland and Hans Hansen Bakke from Gudbrandsdalen, 

Ole Johnson Svartebraaten from Eggedal, all these came to America in the 1840‟s and 

probably to Spring Grove a few years later.  Elling Ellingson Snedkerpladsen from 

Krødsherrad came to America in 1848.  His brother Hans Snedkerpladsen, along with Knud 

and Amund Livdalen, Asle Sundet and Ole A. Bjertness came in the 1860‟s.  I do not have the 

exact year. 
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Ole Stensrud was born August 8, 1818 in Brekkebygdens annex to Krødsherrad and 

emigrated to America in 1852 with his family, wife and two daughters and a half-brother, 

Anders.  After a year‟s stay in Wisconsin, they came to Spring Grove, whre Ole bought land 

and made his living at farming and his trade as a blacksmith.  Ole Stensrud was very 

interested in the church and anxious to get a church built.  When the church was ready, he 

hardly ever missed a service.  In his old age, weak and stiff, he still made it to his seat in 

church with the help of a cane. 

Nils Tveto, who probably came here the same year, left for the western part of Minnesota, but 

returned to Spring Grove during the Indian blood bath of 1862.  In 1865 he joined the Army 

to fight in the Civil War and he was in till the war was over.  He can tell stories about Army 

life at Chatanooga, Lookout Mountain and Missionary Ridge in the State of Tennessee where 

he served. 

Hans Hansen Bakke was born Jaunuary 1, 1801 in Ringebu, Gulbrandsdalen and came to 

America in 1840.  As he landed in Milwaukee he received a piece of paper with an address to 

one Mr. Heg, who a short time before had settled in Town of Norway, Racine County, 

Wisconsin, or at the so-called Muskego settlement.  With the piece of paper in his pocket, he 

set out alone to find Heg, and passed through where Milwaukee now is but where at that time 

only a log cabin was standing.  The first people he met were Indians, and he showed them the 

piece of paper he had received from the captain onboard ship.  They stamped their feet and 

pointed with their guns towards the trail and made faces as sign that the white men lived in 

that direction.  He walked on and came to Heg, bought land close to Muskego and lived there 

for fifteen years.  While there, he married Ingeborg Skore from Tinn, Telemarken and moved 

later to Spring Grove where he bought 160 acres of land four miles west of town.  He died in 

1876.  His son, Martin H. Bakke now owns the farm and is married to Oliva O. Duklith from 

Værdalen, Norway. 

A little more information about this Mr. Heg, whose address Hans Bakke had received.  He 

was Even Heg and the father of the famous Colonel Hans Heg, who was first in organizing 

the 15
th

 Wisconsin Regiment, which was almost exclusively composed of Norwegians and 

Mr. Heg was the regiment‟s colonel. 

According to Holand‟s book about the Norwegian settlement‟s history, we find that Even Heg 

was a very hospitable man, whose doors were always open to all newly arrived Norwegians.  
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And they came and built a shelter house and in the summer several dozens newcomers stayed 

there.  They had free roof over their heads and board, and were given the best of care.  

Thousands of pioneers have slept and rested up at Mr. Heg‟s place and Even Heg‟s shelter 

house also served as a gathering place for church services in Muskego before their church was 

built.  The church they did build is now a Museum for Antiquities in St. Anthony Park.  The 

first marriage by a Norwegian pastor in America took place at Mr. Heg‟s home. 

In 1856 Ole P. Volden came from Nordre Land, Norway.  Knud  Tyribakken from Hallingdal 

and Elling Solberg from Soknedalen.  Elling Solberg emigrated to America in 1848 and came 

from a cottage allotment under the farm Hovland in Soknedalen, Ringerike.  He came to Rock 

County, Wisconsin  where he and his family lived for eight years.  From there they moved to 

Spring Grove and bought land northwest of town.  Elling Solberg and his wife were extremely 

industrious people.  The hard work paid off and they prospered.  His wife, Guri Solberg, was 

a giant of a woman, who in strength could measure up to the strongest men in the township.  

Ole Hovland was one of the big owners of forests who had lumber to sell every year.  It is told 

that one of the workers who graded timber for the buyers in Drammen, always bragged about 

himself as to how strong he was and how well he did in a fight.  He had flattened this strong 

guy and that one, he said in his quiet manner.  “Yes, but I have a cottager‟s wife that I bet so 

and so much you can‟t lick.”  This was right out a disgraceful suggestion, that an old woman 

could lick him, so the bet was made.  Guri was asked to try her strength against him and after 

a few manoeuvres she had him down on the ground faster than anyone could have imagined, 

and of course to laughter from everyone standing around watching.  It was a sobering and 

humiliating experience for this braggart.  

Steingrim Steingrimsen was born in Sigdal, Norway, February 6, 1836 and emigrated to 

America in 1854 with his parents.  Two years later they came to Spring grove, where he came 

into possession of a lovely farm just half a mile south of town.  He married Martha 

Pedersdatter in 1861 and they had seven children, six girls and one boy.  Their son, Peder, 

now owns the farm.  Steingrim‟s brother, John Steingrimsen Bergerud and his wife Kari 

Bjørnsdatter came about the same time. 

In 1857 Johannes Hallan arrived in Spring Grove and probably at the same time his brother, 

Andreas, both from the Trondhjem area.  Toleif Nyhus and family, wife and children, Ole, 

Elling, Lovise and Aagot from Aal in Hallingdal.  Elling A. Bjerknes, Lars and Ole Reiersen 
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Halstenrud, all from Sigdal came to Spring Grove in the last part of the 1850‟s.   Pastor Reier 

Larsen, who died young, was a son of Lars Halstenrud. 

Ole T. Nyhus was born July 12, 1851.  He was put to service in the township and the county.  

He was a County Commissioner for sixteen years with a break of eight years when he was 

Township Supervisor.  He lives on the outskirts of town now and takes it easy. 

In 1858 Knud Storely, Gunvald Tyribakken, Nils Hendriksen and Arne Myro, all from 

Hallingdal, came to Spring Grove.  Nils Hendriksen Støen was born January 26, 1836 at Næs 

in Hallingdal.  His father died in 1841, when Nils was five years old and the task of  raising 

the boy and being a breadwinner fell to his mother.  At nine years of age the boy was sent 

away from home to work and make his own living.  He came to a farmer in the same valley, 

Jens Jorde, where he herded cattle in the summer, both close to home and away in the 

mountains.  In the winter he worked on the farm, chopping wood and anything that had to be 

done on a farm.  Nils Hendriksen talked often of Jens Jorde and what a kind man he was and 

also his wife, what a good woman she was and really like a mother to him.  As a matter of 

fact, Nils Hendriksen became quite eloquent when he talked of Jens Jorde‟s wife, how 

intelligent she was and sensible with advice and guidance.  She was strict and determined that 

he do his chores when she put him to work, but when he did his part right, she would give him 

something extra to eat.  He stayed with these good people for a number of years, and later 

always remembering them and remaining grateful to them even after he was grown up and 

worked at other places.  His home remained with them. 

In 1856 his mother died and two years later he went to America where he stayed a few 

months in Wisconsin before coming to Spring Grove.  He did odd jobs around on the farms.  

In 1862 he married Birgit Olsdatter Sagadalen who bore him ten children, some of them now 

deceased.  He built a small log cabin and started a country store in 1864.  The following year 

he bought thirty acres of land with a bigger house on it and went into partnership with Nils 

Olsen Onsgaard, under the name “Big Nils and Tiny Nils.”  In 1869 the partnership was 

dissolved and Nils Hendriksen worked alone  until 1878 when he entered into partnership 

with Asle Halversen, but that was dissolved a year later.  In 1880 he built a two story building 

for his business and kept on alone but later he added his son Hendrik as a partner.  Johan 

Roverud, son of the late Knud Roverud, worked for many years as a clerk in Nils 

Hendriksen‟s store.   
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Mrs. Nils Hendriksen, who is still living, was born November 15, 1843.  In 1847 she 

emigrated to America with her parents, Ole Sagadalen and his wife and they came to Rock 

Prairie, Wisconsin after a crossing that took them fourteen weeks and an additional number of 

weeks across the country.  She told about how a woman on their trek from the coast over land 

to Wisconsin had given her a cup of milk.  Never had milk tasted so good and she always 

remembered this kind woman.  After a few years at Rock Prairie, her father decided to move 

and they started out in a caravan of emigrants.  Their few belongings were packed in eighteen 

prairie schooners and pulled by oxen.  At McGregor, Iowa they had to cross the Mississippi 

River and the sight of all the prairie schooners and all the people trying to cross the river was 

a picture she would never forget.  They all made it safely.  Arriving in Spring Grove, her 

father bought federal land southwest of town, a place still called Sagadalbottommen, where 

her father dug into the hillside and made a cellar, serving as kitchen, living room and bedroom 

for two years and their place even served as a hotel for newcomers. 

Nils Hendriksen‟s children are living in several states, and they all have good jobs. 

Hendrik Tangen from Upper Flaa, Hallingdal, married a sister of Nils Hendriksen and came 

here in the 1850‟s.  He lived in the southern part of the township till the 1890‟s when he 

moved to Cheyenne, North Dakota where his son Nils lives and where Henrik Tangen died a 

few years later.  His daughter married Martin Omoth and lives in Wilmington.  Hendrik 

Tangen was for years crippled by rheumatism and could move about only by the help of 

crutches. 

Arne O. Myhra was born in 1849 and came to Spring Grove with his parents when he was 

nine years old.  His father bought land west of town, which Arne bought in 1870 and where 

he stayed till his death. 

In 1859 Knud Rauk and family came to Ole O. Roppe and family along with Ole Tollefsrud 

and family, all from Hallingdal.  Truls Paulson from Sigdal came the same year and probably 

so did his brother Hans. 

Ole K. Rauk was born on the farm Rauk in Næs in Hallingdal, March 12, 1843 to parents 

Knud Rauk and Birgit Aslesdatter.  In the spring of 1859 he emigrated to America with his 

parents and five sisters and brothers and they came straight to Spring Grove.  His father 

bought twenty acres of land five miles south of town and they farmed there a few years.  Later 



 22 

Ole bought land next to his father‟s farm and by hard work and frugal living, he became the 

owner of 200 acres of land.  In 1865 he married Gunhild Ellingsdatter Snedkerpladsen from 

Krødsherrad.  They had nine children, eight are still living. 

His brother Halgrim Rauk was born May 26, 1836.  In 1861 he married Barbro Nilsdatter 

Moen and they had three children, two are still living.  Ole Rauk had two more brothers, one 

is Hans in Goodhue County, Minnesota and Asle in Worth County, Iowa, both now deceased.  

His sister Aase married Ole Iversen Vik from Valdres and they live at Riceford, Minnesota. 

Ole and Halgrim Rauk retired from farming a few years ago and live next to one another in 

town.  Ole is bothered with rheumatism, but otherwise alright.  Halgrim is passed away. 

Truls Paulson was born in Aasen, Sigdal, Norway and came to Spring Grove in 1859.  He 

became a veteran of the Civil War.  After the war he and his brother Hans bought a farm and 

farmed together for a few years.  Truls bought out his brother and Hans then moved to Flora, 

North Dakota.  In 1882, Truls Paulson was elected representative to the Minnesota Legislature 

and served one term.  While serving he got a bill passed that a teacher in the Norwegian 

language be hired at the University of Minnesota.  After his term in the Legislature he started 

a restaurant in Spring Grove, became postmaster, went into partnership with Steinar Reierson 

in a store, which they operated for sixteen years together, till the partnership was dissolved in 

1907.  Truls Paulson continued alone till he died. 

Truls Paulson was an educated man and interested in politics.  He was a wholehearted 

Republican.  The author of this book had many conversations with Truls Paulson in his and 

Reierson‟s store.  As a rule we never agreed and this sparked the discussions to the point 

where often Paulson forgot to wait on his customers.  He could be very sharp, and we often 

parted half mad at one another, but the next time we met, we would be the best of friends and 

he would invite me home for dinner.  Truls Paulson was a courageous and able man, who took 

interest in church life as well as the cultural improvements of our area.  He was mayor of 

Spring Grove for several years and held several positions of trust in the community.  The last 

year of his wife he lost much.  He suffered from a head ailment which finally took his life. 

Ole O. Roppe was from Roppe farm in Flaa, Hallingdal, Norway and came here in 1859.  His 

son O. O. Roppe, who now lives in town, was five years old when they left Norway and can 
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barely remember his home there.  Another son, Anders Roppe was born in this country and 

runs a store in town. 

Ole Tollefsrud died several years ago and his son Henry now lives on the farm. 

I have tried to gather an individual history of the persons who came here from Norway up till 

1860.  However, I am pretty sure that there were other persons who came to Spring Grove 

before 1869 from Norway, but I have no way of finding out, because they are now all dead.  

Therefore, it is not complete, but as well done as I can possibly do it with the information at 

hand. 

 The readers will most likely find personal history with long biographies to be rather dry facts 

and to be of little interest to them.  Yes, that's true.  One long row of biographies is just dry 

facts nowadays.  But sometimes in the future, when we and our children and grandchildren 

are gone, the personal histories might become valuable information.   Therefore I have 

collected as many names as possible. 

In order not to bore my readers with all biographies lined up at once, I will stop here and tell 

you about the development of the town, both religious life and about the life among the old 

pioneers, give some small anecdotes etc. Later I get back to personal histories from 1860 

onwards. 

 

The first man who came to Spring Grove and bought government land that we know about, 

was an American called James Smith.  He arrived from Pennsylvania in the spring 1852 and 

took 320 acres of land in the eastern part of where the town now is, built a house and lived the 

life of a bachelor.   In the fall he went to Lansing and worked there in a small printing house 

during winter.   But in the following spring he returned and cleared parts of the land, and did 

other improvements, too.  In 1854 he married a girl called Elizabeth Landrum from Illinois 

and in their house the first Sunday school was held.  It also served as a stop and a kind of 

hotel to those who came to find a home in these parts. 

Mr. Smith founded a post office and became the first postmaster here.  He gave the place the 

name of Spring Grove, which has been used ever since.   He was also elected peace judge and 

was member of the county commissioner's district court before Minnesota became a state. 
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Mr. Smith also started a store including selling whiskey which was regarded as a necessity 

then, and the merchants in those days had to sell whiskey in order to make a profit at all.   

Emigrants came in big crowds and the land was settled all the way to Preston, Fillmore 

County.  Then Smith's house became the midpoint between Brownsville and Preston and thus 

became a natural stop for those who drove to Brownsville with their farm goods. 

 

Around the year 1855 he sold his stock of goods to a man called Wm. Hintley, who had 

bought some land from Engebret K. Opheim, where he built a new store, about half a mile 

west of Smith's house.  In that house he moved the goods and started the business.  Next to 

the shop he built a small house to be used as saloon, where he sold all kinds of liquors.  The 

old-timers, however,  tell me it was all whiskey.  Some seem to know it was homemade 

„whiskey‟, which consisted of alcohol, tobacco and water mixed together.  The Pure Food 

Law didn't apply then and the customers did no content analysis, so nobody bothered that it 

was not real whiskey.  If the liquid burnt in the throat and could put courage and power in a 

man, they were happy.  The first settlers were not used to delicate, artificial food which the 

doctors now say ruin our stomachs. People could drink - and get intoxicated - from this kind 

of gravy, without being really hurt by it.   In this saloon Mr. Hintley had his bedroom and had 

arranged it in a manner so he didn't have to get out of bed to serve his customers.   The 

whiskey barrel was on the one side of the bed and the window on the other side.   If anybody 

demanded a drink during the night, he only opened the window, received jars  and bottles, 

filled them up and returned them through the window without getting out of bed.   As 

mentioned earlier, Spring Grove was near the midpoint between Preston and Brownsville and 

a suitable place to be served a drink whether you came from east or from west.   Mr. Hintley 

sold his land and business after some years and moved to Riceford. 

About at the same time as Hintley was running his business an American called Wm. Fleming 

bought 40 acres of land from Engebret Enderud - where most part of the town now is all 

buildings.  He paid 100 dollars for it, which was an unheard of high price for such land then, 

and twice what had been paid for it as government land.  William Fleming decided to build a 

big house, and to get enough building materials quickly he made a “domning” or “joint 

effort”.   People came in from everywhere. Some fellows cut and others drove and thus he 

was able to get all the materials he needed in just a day.   "Domnings" like that was frequently 

used and was regarded as pleasant gatherings.  People were offered food and whiskey as 

much as they liked.  Yes, it was the good drinks that was the mainspring for these 

"domnings", and people found them very pleasant, even if they might lead to something bad.  
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But we should not mock these first settlers for their drinking habits.  This was the spirit of the 

time that whiskey was thought to be good against both heat and coldness and an effective cure 

against many deceases through inside and outside lubrication.   I will get back to some of the 

reasons they had back then for drinking whiskey. 

William Fleming put up a big log house that served as a hotel, dance hall and a place for all 

kinds of gatherings.    It was told that Mr. Fleming was a gentle person, always polite and 

serving and even a joker who could amuse with his funny stories, so his house was always 

filled with guests who were travelling through to and from their homes further west.  One day 

when a big crowd of travellers from St. Paul and other places arrived, they asked for a place 

to sleep and he hadn't enough beds for everybody.   Then he found that he could make the 

beds he had bigger by adding a row of chairs in front of them.   When the chairs were too low 

compared to the beds, he put pumpkins on the chairs so they got in the same heights as the 

beds.  In this way he managed to get enough beds for everybody.   The next morning, when 

some of the guests were leaving, they called the place "The pumpkin hotel".   This name used 

for fun was later also used by Mr. Fleming.    He emptied a big pumpkin, put in on a stick in 

front of the hotel and put a candle inside so you could see the reddish light.    The hotel were 

known for all from far and near for many years as The Pumpkin Hotel, and nobody who 

travelled through could resist the temptation to enter, at least for a drink.  William Fleming 

ran this business until his death and it was told that he was the first adult white man ever to be 

buried here. 

Some years after James Smith had sold his stock of goods to Mr. Hintley, he prepared parts of 

his land as city land and tried to sell it.  But this didn't succeed, so he sold all of it to Robert 

McCormick and moved to Caledonia.  Robert McCormick later sold the land to the 

Norwegians, and among it the very part that was bought by the parish and called the priest's 

land (prestelandet).   

 About the same time, i.e. in1857, Rick and Jesse Demring came from Caledonia and built a 

house not far from Fleming's hotel, meant for being a saloon.   This project was given up and 

the house was sold to one Mr. Badger from Madison, Wisconsin, who instead filled it with 

groceries and started an ordinary grocery shop.  The business was lively for a couple of 

months.  But for some strange reason that never was found out for sure, a fire broke loose and 

burnt the whole building down to the grown including its store of goods.   This was a hard 

blow to the owner and also to people around.   He had had a really big store of goods, that 

wasn't at all usual in the new settlements in those days. 
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 Some times later a firm by the name Tartt & Smith came from Dorchester, Iowa and started a 

grocery shop in the eastern part of town that was run for a while.  But they packed their 

belonging and moved back to where they once came from. 

But the forty strips of land that later made the business part of town changed owner, as Peder 

Halvorsen from Wilmington bought them.  In 1860 he sold the land again to Mons Fladager 

who sold it to building sites, and thus became the city father. 

The first settlers here often had conflicts with some yankees, who claimed they had priority 

rights to this and this piece of land.   These yankees had roamed this parts before the 

Norwegians came and had chosen the best pieces of land for themselves. When newcomers 

came and wanted to build a home, then these yankees came and said the land was theirs.  But 

if the newcomers paid them enough money they might give them the land.   One of these 

greedy yankees with no rights wanted to make some profit at the expense of the naive 

newcomers.  One of these yankee villains was called Arthur Bow.  He made the first settlers 

believe that he had priority rights to the land and since he was big and strong and knew how 

to handle a gun he frightened many, so either they paid the ransom or they found land 

somewhere else.  Finally he was outmatched by a man, not very tall, but very broad and full-

grown with immense muscles by the name of Ole Olsen Gudbrandsongutten from Sigdal, who 

as previously mentioned had the alias "Big Ole".  This Big Ole wasn't easily frightened and 

gave Arthur Bow such blows that he immediately disappeared and was never seen here since.  

Holand tells in his book "The history of the Norwegian Settlements" that this Arthur Bow 

turned up west of Rushford in Fillmore County and ran the same kind of business there.  He 

had chosen a big piece of land along a broad valley and demanded several hundred dollars for 

every quarter acre for giving up his alleged rights to the land.   This claim he made by 

demonstrating his ability to shoot.   In this way he won such a respect that people were 

frightened of him.  But one Hellik Glam from Numedal, who was one of the greatest fighters 

who ever emigrated from Norway turned up and Mr. Bow was outmatched again.   Before the 

yankee villain knew what struck him, Hellik was sitting on top of him, and didn't let him 

loose till he had swallowed all the bullets he was carrying.   He was let lose on the condition 

that he never came back, otherwise he would be forced to swallow his gun, too.  

The winters 1851 and 1852 a yankee called John Dale came from Iowa and drew up a line 

around a piece of land of the finest kind one half mile west of Spring Grove.   Just like the 

bear hunters in Norway used to circle in a bear, and then he went back to Iowa again.  The 

summer 1852 he came back.  He cut himself some fence boards as if he was about to make 

fences around the piece of land.   But he didn't settle here.  Instead he sold his self-given right 
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to three men from Sigdal, i.e. Haagen Narvesen, Fingal Flaten and Knud Kiland, who split 

this piece of land among them into three farms.  A yankee, probably of Dutch heritage, by the 

name Anthony Huyck is well known by the old-timers here.   He also did the business of 

choosing nice pieces of land, made a few improvements and sold it to real settlers.   He also 

had a team of oxen and a plough and ploughed a few furrows on his chosen land, in order to 

gain first right.  Then he sold this right to others for 50 to 100 dollars and left with his oxen 

and plough to another chosen place to gain rights somewhere else by ploughing a few furrows 

again.   Elling Solberg from Soknedalen who as previously mentioned had to pay Anthony 

Huyck 60 dollars in gold for a piece of land where he settled, that Huyck claimed was his. 

This Anthony Huyck came from Albany County, New York in 1852. He was then not yet 

married and lived for many years in his log cabin as bachelor.  He both worked as a 

housewife, cook and farmer.   He was a big joker, too, full of funny answers and practical 

jokes and many anecdotes about him are still remembered.   These are about his art of 

cooking, cleaning and his clothes.  His food was not of the best kind, unknown  to both 

French as well as English cooks.   He himself told about his first attempts in the art of 

cooking.   He had seen his mother make some kind of stew consisting of pork and beans.  

This, he meant could be rather fried instead.  First he watered the beans and cleaned them 

well.  He let the water run off and dried the beans thoroughly.   Then he put a piece of pork 

meat in the frying pan and poured the beans on top and put it in the oven and let it stay there 

for a long while under strong heat.  When he took it out again, the pork meat was turned into 

coal and the beans were changed into small, black shotgun ammunition. 

 

One spring extraordinary many pigeons turned up which caused him a lot of annoyance.  

When he was sowing, the pigeons came and picked up the wheat seeds as soon as he was able 

to throw them on his fields.   Then he put up some traps and loops and was able to catch a lot 

of these birds.   He thought that this game had to be utilized, since the pigeon meat ought to 

be good, if it was prepared and cooked in the right way.   He seemed to remember that he had 

heard about pigeon pie and this he wanted to make.  He took the feathers off, cut the pigeons 

in pieces and then he baked a dough that he put in the frying pan, put in the pigeon meat and 

on  top he put a new layer of wheat flour dough.  Then he put this into the oven and watched it 

carefully until it got the nice brown colour that pies used to have when they tasted deliciously.   

When he thought the pie was properly fried he took it out of the oven and put it on the table to 

some friends that he had invited for pigeon pie, supposedly a really fine meal.   But his guests 
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were disappointed, because under the nice, brown crust the pigeon meat was only lukewarm 

and still raw.   Next time he cooked the pigeon meat first, before he made pigeon pie of it. 

One day he got visitors from Caledonia, some fine ladies.   Huyck didn't expect visitors, and 

ladies the least.   The ladies turned up so quickly that he wasn't able to change clothes and the 

clothes he had on wasn't of the kind to be shown to fine ladies.  He then ran to hide behind 

some hazelnut trees.   But the ladies discovered him.  They urged him to come and show them 

the courtesy of helping them with the horse, but he asked them nicely to return, as he was in 

no condition to receive guests.  He promised to go and visit them in Caledonia with some fruit 

and then he promised to be decently clothed. 

Another time while he was having dinner, two fine gentlemen visited him.  He asked them to 

take a seat and have pancakes and other delicacies with him.   No, thank you, the guests didn't 

want anything to eat.   They'd rather go to Mrs. Littleford, who they knew made tasty dinners.  

Huyck told them that they probably would get no food from her, and repeated his invitation to 

eat at his place, but in vain.  They didn't want anything to eat from him.   After finishing his 

dinner he entertained the gentlemen with some stories, and then accompanied them over to 

Mrs. Littleford, where he boasted about the dinner they just had at his place, so she did'nt 

make another dinner for her guests.  This amused Mr. Huyck for a long time, that he managed 

to cheat them for a dinner, since they were too fine gentlemen to eat at his place. 

Anthony Huyck soon earned lots of money by his practice in taking land here and there in the 

plains, ploughing a few furrows and then sell the land to real settlers.   His neighbours knew 

he had big sums of money hidden away in his log cabin and one guy asked if he was afraid of 

thieves. He might be mugged, since he lived alone and then the mugger would run away with 

his money.   No, Huyck said, if such kind of people should try to rob him they would be easy 

match.   The following night, Huyck told, two men in disguise came and demanded his life or 

his money. Huyck answered that he had no money, but if they came inside he would give 

them a note, but then they disappeared.  He made people believe this story for a long time.   

Many years later he was a married man and he had several big houses on his farm. Then two 

men came to visit him and offered to put up a lightning conductor on his houses.  Huyck was 

a hospitable man and offered them to stay for dinner.   He didn't have to ask them this twice, 

they accepted the invitation and started to praise the  usefulness of the lightning conductors.  

Huyck listened to them and even if he wasn't too interested in buying a lightning conductor he 

could let them put up a lightning conductor if they only could agree upon the price for it.  He 

bargained for the price for a long time and at last they promised him it was impossible to get it 

any cheaper per feet anywhere else.    Finally they should put up a lightning conductor and the 



 29 

price per feet was agreed upon.    When ready to start working they asked on what building he 

wanted to put up the lightning conductor.  Then Huyck pointed at the very smallest house he 

had on the farm and then the agents drove away, never to return again.  

One day he loaded his carriage with wheat screening, i.e. leftovers from wheat cleansing.  

Then he went to Caledonia to sell it.  As he arrived there he told the wheat buyer that he had a 

load of screening that he wanted to sell and asked what price he could offer him per bushel.  

The wheat buyer thought it was wheat he had in his carriage, and offered him the day's market 

price.  Short while ago he had bought wheat from him and knew how that looked and found it 

unnecessary to open up the sacks to see before he mentioned a price.  But Huyck had said he 

brought screening to sell and when he was offered  a certain price for it the wheat buyer  had 

to pay what he had offered.  For a long time Anthony Huyck had much fun from this 

happening, when the wheat buyer had given him full wheat price for wheat screening. 

Even if this Anthony Huyck was not Norwegian, he was so much attached to this settlement 

that I had to include him in this book.  Especially because he was such an original character, a 

funny guy of which you won't find many.  He moved to Albert Lea, where he died. 

 

The first election in Spring Grove was held in 1855.  One man called S.Aiken, who later 

moved to Decorah, Iowa, says:  My first vote in Spring Grove was in 1855 concerning where 

to put up the capital of Houston County.   The landowners in these fresh small villages like 

Houston, Brownsville, Caledonia and Spring Grove saw themselves in the future as rich men, 

if only their town became the county capital.   Then they could sell the land as city land and 

thus make a fortune.  The election rooms  were in James Smith's house in the eastern part of 

the where the town is now, and everybody who had the right to vote showed up.  It was an 

exciting election, a high stake that could be won.   But Samuel McPhail, the founder of 

Caledonia felt rather certain of victory. His town ought to be capital.  Caledonia was after all 

the most central place in the county, and he had brought with him a lot of eggs that he let be 

boiled in big kettles, butter and then he served (sandwiches with) butter and eggs to the 

voters.  Eggs and butter voted Caledonia for being capital in Houston County, it was said 

afterwards.  It wasn't impossible that some good drinks too accompanied the eggs and 

sandwiches.  

 

In 1858 the township of  Spring Grove was organized and these gentlemen were elected: C.H. 

Brown, chairman; John Nilsen and George Timansen, supervisors; Engebret K. Opheim, 
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cashier; W.T. Hintley, clerk; S. Aiken and B.S. Andersen, peace judge and Francis Aiken, 

constable. 

The first mill was erected not far from here in the fall 1852.  An American by the name W. 

Banning erected one kind of flourmill at the Riceford stream, about 6 miles west of Spring 

Grove. This kind of mill looked like the stream mills that were so usual in Norway in those 

days, except for the fact that this mill had a very small capacity.  At the stream mills in 

Norway it was possible to grind several barrels of grain a day, and rather fine too, if the grain 

had been dried well.  But on this first mill in Riceford, the eldest settlers tell us, if you took 

half a bushel of grain on the shoulder and walked there with it, it  took several boring hours to 

get it grinded.   First the wheat or corn was crushed a little.  Then the grinding stones were put 

closer together and we got some kind of flour, but not like the patent flour we can get from 

the mills in Minneapolis, but finer than you could get by grinding it on the coffee grinder or 

by crushing it in a mortar.  The most difficult task was to pour the grain in suitable portions.  

If a handful of grain was put in at once,  the whole mill just stopped.  Sometimes the grain just 

disappeared into the mill, but nothing came out, so it was really something mystic about this  

mill that was hard to explain.    In Norway I heard people say that if a miller fell, a thief rose.  

But a small parasite was discovered, the reason why neither flour nor grain had come out of 

the mill.  One of the first settler came here once with a bag of corn for grinding.   He poured 

the corn into the mill's funnel. He saw it enter the mill, but nothing came out it.  After waiting 

for a while, he examined this phenomenon a little more thoroughly and found that a little 

mouse was sitting under the mill funnel, bit out the core and threw away the rest.  When this 

mouse had been removed, flour started to come out and after having waited long enough he 

had a small bag of flour. 

If the white man admired this mill for what was said above, it wasn't less admired by the 

Indians and their squaws who at first regarded the mill with some fear and respect as 

something unnatural.  They had never seen any mills before that could change the corn grain 

into flour and that even moved by itself.   The Indians had an admiration for it, especially the 

Indian squaws, who from time to time had some corn grinded there.   When I think back to the 

times with this first mill and saw how simple and incomplete it was, compared to the big mills 

in Minneapolis that we have today, where millions of bushels of wheat are grinded every year 

and sent all over the world, I have to admire the progress and great developments that has 

happened in this country since then.  People who are used to this wheat flour and perhaps feel 

that it is too much work to carry a 50 pound bag for half a mile, will probably smile of the 

simple and poor mill and from carrying on the shoulder the corn or wheat to grind.  But the 
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little mill in Riceford filled the needs of its time, and many housewives were happy when 

their husband returned home from it with a bag of flour over his shoulder.   With the 

transportation means of today, a mill is comparatively easy to erect.  The millstones may be 

transported on the railway or be carried on good roads.  It was different back then:  No roads, 

no bridges over the rivers and streams.  One had to cross the rivers on a raft and try to get past 

wetlands and morasses with the oxen and the prairie schooner.  So in retrospect Mr. Banning 

was a benefactor to the first settlers by erecting this mill, even if it was simple and poor and 

even if some of the grain just disappeared.  One would really miss the mill when the stream 

water froze.  Knud Bergo  has told that three years after he had settled here, the stream water 

to the mill froze so people had to grind the grain on their coffee grinder or crush it in a mortar.   

It was so hard times for the newcomers this winter, he has told, that it was almost impossible 

to preserve ones body and soul and keep them together.   He carried a bag of grain or as much 

as he was able to carry over his shoulder and went to Dorchester, Iowa to get it grinded. It 

took a week before he was back home again.  Deep snow was the reason that he was able to 

cover only short distances each day.  Tolleif Berg told that he was once away for two week on 

such a mill-travel.   Deep snow and blizzards stopped him so it went rather slow with oxen 

through the roadless districts.  And when he finally reached the mill so many others had 

come, too, so he had to wait for several days till it was his turn.   The rule said: The first man 

to get to the mill got his grain grinded.   Nowadays its wouldn't take longer time to go to 

Kristiania, Norway to grind grain, that it took back then to go to Dorchester or Turkey River, 

Iowa.   Samuel McPhail, the founder of Caledonia, who I mentioned earlier, told that farmers 

in those days went to Canoe Creek, Iowa to grind their grain, but that it cost them  10 dollars 

per 100 pounds flour to get the wheat grinded.   The travel expenses for both traveller and 

oxen grew rather high, even if nothing was included for the time spent.  Samuel McPhail also 

tell, that before any blacksmith came to Caledonia he had to go all the way to Prairie du 

Chien, Wisconsin, to get a plough repaired and that cost him 5 dollars in ship‟s fare on the 

Mississippi river and 2 dollars for the hotel while the work on the plough was only 60 cents. 

 

There was told about a farmer from Albert Lea who made an agreement with a man to drive 

his wheat to Winona for 40 cents a bushel.  But when he sold there he only got 45 cent a 

bushel, i.e. there was only a net profit of 5 cents a bushel.  Now it is possible to send the 

wheat around the world for less than half of this price of driving between Albert Lea and 

Winona. 

Yes,  this was during the good old days like the dissatisfied of today talk so much about. 
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The winters 1856 and 1857 are spoken of as the worst ones.  Around mid October 1856 there 

snowed heavily and the snow didn't melt away. Yes, it snowed more and the snow depth 

increased during winter until it was between 6 and 8 feet deep on even ground.  Later in the 

winter there was a little milder weather and the snow was compressed a little.   Afterwards it 

grew cold so the snow got a hard crust on top strong enough to carry people, dogs and wolves, 

but it was impossible to get through with horses or oxen.   The deer that was rather numerous 

earlier, was soon almost extinct. There were real parties for the wolves this winter. This was 

due to the fact that the crust of ice carried the wolves easily, while the deer with its narrow 

legs fell through and was an easy catch.   Hundreds of deer were killed by the settlers so many 

families enjoyed deer meat for a while.  A farmer and his son who lived a few miles north of 

Spring Grove killed 11 deer in one day with no other weapons than a wooden club. Other 

people told that they killed close to 40 deer that winter.   As said earlier, it was impossible to 

get from one place to another with horses or oxen in this deep snow with the ice on top, so the 

settlers had to make sleighs on which they hauled firewood and other things they needed. 

Engebret H. Melbraaten made snowshoes that he tied to the horses hooves, and thus managed 

to drive with horse.   This winter was the longest winter that may be remembered as the snow 

that came mid October lasted until May. 

 

The first Norwegian school here was held in small log cabins that the settlers had built and 

was what they called "omgangsskole" in Norway. The school teacher moved from farm to 

farm.  He had school about one week in each place and got something to eat and some pay 

before he moved to the next farm.   Cornelius Narvesen was the first teacher, who loyally 

taught the Christian truths to his pupils.   Thing grew better and the school was held at Ole 

Amundsen Berg's place and later a house was hired from John Myra, and this house was used 

until a schoolhouse was built.    As previously mentioned, the first Sunday school was 

founded by Mrs James Smith in her house.   She was a very eager and enterprising Sunday 

school teacher and took a leading part in running it.   In addition to be held in her house the 

Sunday school was also held in the house of Ole and Beret Stenerodden and some other 

places, too.   

The Mormons who have their long tentacles stretched out in Europe as well as in America 

also sent one of their disciples to Spring Grove, one Mr. Ralph L. Young who had the task in 

giving some prophecies to the first settlers here.  But the Norwegians here were rather 
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satisfied with one wife each, so the Mormon priest had to leave before having gained his 

purpose. 


